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Appellant, Richard Lynn Bittinger, an employee  of appellee CSX Transportation, Inc.,

(“CSX”),  a railroad company, suffered a back injury while attempting to throw a railway

switch to permit a train  to change  tracks.  To obtain compensation for h is injury, he filed su it

in the Circuit Court for Allegany County against CSX under the Federa l Employers’ L iability

Act, 45  U.S.C . §§ 51-60.  That suit ended in a  jury verdict in favor of CSX.  

On appeal, Bittinger presents three issues:

I. Whether the circuit court erred in admitting evidence of prior

FELA claims made by Bittinger for similar injuries and that he

was compensated for those injuries by CSX.

II. Whether the circuit court erred in refusing several of

Bittinger’s requested jury instructions and his proposed verdict

form.

III. Whether CSX engaged in improper argument and misstated

the law applicable to the case.

BACKGROUND

Prior to the injury, which is the subject of this litigation, appellant sustained three back

injuries while working for CSX:  Those injuries occurred in 1984, 1994, and 1999.  Af ter

each injury, Bittinger filed a claim under the  Federal Employers’ Liability Act (“FELA”).

That act allows railroad employees to pursue claims against their employers for injuries

caused “in whole or in part” by the railroads’ negligence.  CSX Transp., Inc. v. Miller, 159

Md. App. 123, 132-33 (2004).  In each instance, appellant’s claim was settled and, pursuant

to that settlement, he received compensation.  After appellant’s 1999 injury, his treating



1 A “tamper” is not defined in the  record .  
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physician  released him to  return to  work at CSX , and he  did. 

About a year later, on June 23, 2003, appellant purportedly suffered the back injury

that is the subject of this litigation.  At the time, he was working as a conductor for CSX at

its railroad yard in Beryl, West Virginia. The yard had a number of “switches” that CSX

employees were to “throw” to permit trains to change from one track to another.  The

particular switch of interest in this case was the “No. 9 switch”; it was the main switch in the

yard and thus the most frequently used. A standard railroad switch, the No. 9 consisted of a

ball weighing about 30 pounds and a lever; it required manual operation. When the switch

was thrown from one side  to the other, the lever traveled in a 180 degree arc. 

Mud, sand and rust were commonly found in the switches and witnesses could not

recall a time when there was enough mud in a switch to cause it to “hang up” in the middle

of a throw, or otherwise p revent the throwing of the sw itch.  Moreover, the sw itches were

routinely inspected by CSX employees for larger items such as rocks and sticks that might

affect the switches’ operation.

The track  in Beryl Yard, according to CSX employee Michael E. Dier, was in an area

which, because it was “low” lying, had a drainage problem.  To alleviate this condition, he

installed, before appellant was injured, four drains and a pipe underneath the track in the

vicinity of the No . 9 switch and “surfaced the track w ith a tamper to raise it  up.”1 But those

efforts  failed to  completely rectify the prob lem. 
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On June 23, 2003, the day of the accident, appellant was w orking at the  yard with

fellow crew members Ronald Yutzy and Tom Maloney.  At some point, Yutzy threw the No.

9 switch.  It was “hard to throw,” as were all the other switches in the yard that morning

because of what he described as a “lack of maintenance .” The No. 9 switch  was usually

cleaned and lubrica ted with graphite every 14  days, but had not been serv iced, accord ing to

Merle Lowery, the track opera tor, in the 14 days leading up  to the June 23, 2003 incident.

Moreover,  Yutzy testified that there was “mud, sand and rust”  on the switches that day.

Although Yutzy found the No. 9 switch “hard to throw” that morning, he completed the

throw and did no t alert appellan t or, it appears, anyone else that he had had  a problem with

the switch.

Appellant had not until that day had any difficulty throwing the No. 9.  But that

morning, after observing that mud had been pumped into the No. 9 switch, he nonetheless

attempted to throw it.  When he did, it stopped suddenly in mid-arc; at which time he felt “a

sharp pain” running f rom his back down to his leg.  He then “fell to  the ground.” Able to

contact Yutzy by radio, he told Yutzy what had happened and that he had hurt his back.

Yutzy returned to the site of the No. 9 switch, where he completed the “throw,” which

appellant had begun, without any significant trouble.  He did, how ever, inform Merle Lowery

that the “switches were hard to throw . .  . ”  That prompted Lowery to clean and graphite the

No. 9 switch.  When Yutzy later attempted to throw the switch, he found it, in his words, “a

lot easier” to throw.  The next day, appellant saw a doctor and called his supervisor, Steven
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Vinci.  They filled out an accident report together.   In that report, there was no mention of

mud or excessive sand in the N o. 9 switch. 

On July 2, 2003, appellant’s treating physician, Patrick Ireland, M.D., recommended

an MRI scan of appellant’s lumbar spine.  The MRI showed a herniated disc.  On September

20, 2004, appellant had back surgery; after which he wore a back brace 24 hours a day for

five months from September, 2004  through February, 2004. 

On December 1, 2004, appellant brought an action in the circuit court against CSX

alleging both that CSX had negligently failed to provide him with a reasonably safe place to

work under the FELA and, without specific references, had v iolated the federal Track Safety

Standards, 49 C.F.R. Part 213 et seq.  Appellant amended his complaint by adding the claim

that, “starting on or about March 12, 2002, and continuing thereafter” until his injuries on

June 23, 2003, CSX “negligently and carelessly approved and assigned [him] to work for

which he was not physically suited, which . . . caused or contributed to” his June 23, 2003

injuries. 

Before trial, appellant filed a motion in  limine to exc lude any mention, during  trial,

of his prior FELA claims against CSX and the amounts paid to him in compensation for

those claims.  The court denied that motion, stating that the admissible evidence would be

“limited  to show ing prior back in jury and that those  claims have been reso lved.”

DISCUSSION 
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I. 

Appellant argues that the circuit court erred in denying his motion in  limine and  in

permitting CSX to  cross-exam ine him about his prior FELA  claims and that he received

compensation for those claims.  Appellant’s motion, which was among many in-limine

motions that he filed in this case, requested the exclusion of the FELA claims that he had

made for back injuries he sus tained in  1984, 1994, and 1999 . The circuit court denied that

motion, declaring that CSX could introduce evidence that the claims were made and that

appellant was compensated for them but not the amounts of compensation he received for

each claim. Pursuant to that ruling, CSX was permitted to cross-examine appellant as

follows:

COUNSEL: Mr. Bittinger, you brought a claim against the

railroad for the 1984 back injury, correct?

. . . . 

APPELLANT : Yes, sir . 

. . . . 

COUNSEL: And okay, that claim, on that claim you received

compensation and that claim was settled and resolved, co rrect?

APPELLAN T: That claim was resolved.

COUNSEL: Okay, and you also brought a claim against the

railroad for your 1994 back injury, correc t?

APPELLAN T: Correc t.

COUNSEL: And you received compensation on that claim and

that claim was settled and resolved.
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APPELLAN T: That claim was resolved.

COUNSEL: And indeed you even brought a claim against the

railroad for your 1999 back injury to which you said on your

incident report that no one was at fault.  And on that claim you

received compensation and that claim was settled and resolved.

APPELLAN T: That claim was resolved.

COUNSEL: Okay, so this is  the fourth claim you have brought

against C.S .X. claiming  injuries to your back, is it not?

APPELLANT : That w ould be  correct . 

. . . . 

Standard of Review 

Before addressing the merits of appellant’s claims, we m ust first consider appellant’s

curious claim as to the proper standard of review we should apply in reviewing h is

contention.  Although it is “well settled” in Maryland that “the admission of evidence is

committed to the considerable and sound discretion of the trial court” and that such an

admission will not be disturbed in the absence of an abuse, Dupree v. State, 352 Md. 314,

324 (1998) (citations omitted), appellant nonetheless suggests that we should apply a de novo

standard of review.  For that proposition, he cites two cases: Zografos  v. Mayor and City

Council of Baltimore, 165 Md. App. 80 (2005) and McCormack v. Board of Educ. of

Baltimore County, 158 Md. App. 292 (2004).  

Although appellant is correct in his assertion that w e did  apply a de novo standard of

review to the question of admissibility in those two cases, we did so only because in each

case the circuit court admitted the evidence in dispute based on an erroneous interpretation
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of a statute, and we hardly need to point out to counsel that interpreting a statute is a question

of law and that such questions require a de novo review.  See Maryland-National Capital

Park and Planning Com'n v. Anderson, 395 Md. 172, 181 (2006).  In contrast, here, the

circuit court did not base its decision on an interpretation of a statute.  It admitted the

evidence in ques tion as an exerc ise of its d iscretion , and as such, that exercise, as noted

earlier, is only review able for abuse . 

Claims

Appellant admits that evidence of his prior inquiries was relevant to the question of

damages, but he maintains that evidence of his prior claims for those injuries and that he

received compensation was not.  We disagree.  “[T]he propriety of admitting evidence of

previous claims and actions depends on the facts, in each case and generally turns on whether

the evidence, if irrelevant or immaterial, is prejudicial.” Maged v. Yellow Cab Company, 237

Md. 340, 347  (1965).  Here  the evidence w as relevant and  not unfairly prejud icial.  

Indeed, it was relevant to the issues of damages.  As CSX notes in its brief, “[t]hat

[a]ppellant was prev iously compensated for his three prior back in juries was re levant with

respect to the extent, if any, to which he could have been entitled to recover from CSX for

the latest injury.”  In the absence of such ev idence, the jury might have assumed, as CSX

feared, that appellant had never received recompense from CSX for his prior work-related

injuries and therefore been understandably pre-disposed to fully compensate him for all his

CSX work-rela ted injuries, past and present.   CSX maintains, and we do not disagree, that



2 This of course could also have been accomplished by a jury instruction, but no such

instruction was requested by either side.
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it was therefore important for the jury to know that those claims had been satisfied.2 

Nor was the evidence of appellant’s p rior claims unfairly prejudicial.  Appellant, of

course, contends otherwise.  He maintains that the admission  of this evidence was  unfairly

prejudicial because it might have led the jury to believe tha t appellant “is one who  files suit

at the drop of a hat” and that, if he received money from CSX for his prior claims, he did not

need any further compensation. Moreover, the very word “compensation,” he maintains,

might have led the jury to believe that he received workers’ compensation payments for his

injury, and that, if it  found in  his favor, he w ould  be, in  effect, receiving a  double recovery.

Appellant cites no facts in the record nor any case law supporting these highly

speculative claims.  Indeed, as CSX points out, there was no mention of workers’

compensation during trial and the jury was properly instruc ted as to  damages.  Because the

jury is presumed to have understood and fo llowed  those instructions, see Patras v. Syphax,

166 Md. App. 67, 77 (2005) (citations omitted), and there is nothing in the record to suggest

that it did  not, we  find no  merit to these suppositions. 

However, relying principally on Lai v. Sagle , 373 Md. 306 (2003), and Smallwood v.

Bradford, 352 Md. 8 (1998), appellant maintains that we need not speculate as to what the

jury might have done because the admission of such evidence is ipso facto  prejudicial.   But

the app licability of  both cases does not withstand  analysis. 



9

In Lai, a medical malpractice case, the plaintiff’s counsel, in her opening statement,

told the jury that Dr. Lai had been sued five times for malpractice  in another state.  Lai, 373

Md. at 310.  Dr. Lai’s counsel objected and m oved for a mis trial. Id. at 310-11.  That motion

was denied and the ju ry ultimate ly found Dr. La i guilty of negligence.  Id. at 312-13. 

Although this Court affirmed that decision, the Court of Appeals reached a different

conclusion.  Id. at 313-14.  It reversed, stating that the “mention by the plaintiff in opening

statement in a medical malpractice jury trial of prior malpractice litigation brought by third

parties against the defendan t doctor is unduly and highly pre judicial and o rdinarily shall

result, upon proper objection and motion, in a mistrial.”  Id. at 324-25.  After pointing out

that “[t]here could be any number of reasons why Dr. Lai was sued, and not all, if any, of

them may have been legitimate,” id. at 322, it further observed that “similar acts of prior

malpractice litigation should be excluded to prevent a jury from concluding that a doctor has

a propensity to commit medical malpractice.” Id. at 323.  

In contrast, appellant, unlike the plaintiff in Lai, was not seeking to introduce evidence

of previous negligence claims against CSX to  establish CS X’s propensity to comm it

negligent acts.  Quite the contrary, CSX was seeking to introduce evidence of appellant’s

prior FELA claims, not to establish a propensity to commit negligent acts, but because that

evidence was relevant to the issue of  damages. 

Smallwood is even less relevant to the case at bar.  In Smallw ood, after the decedent

was killed when his car collided with the defendant’s vehicle, the representative of his estate



10

filed a survival action, alleging that the defendant’s negligence caused the decedent’s death.

Smallwood, 352 Md. at 11.  At trial, the personal representative sought to introduce evidence

and testimony relating to the “pecuniary condition of the decedent’s estate,” but the trial

judge excluded it, stating that it was irrelevant. Id. at 13, 26.  After the circuit court entered

judgment awarding damages only for funeral expenses, the personal representative appealed,

arguing that the evidence was relevant to show “the extent to which [the decedent’s] loss of

enjoyment of life was increased by his knowledge that he  had insuf ficient assets to  pay his

Estate’s  bills . . . .”  Id. 

The Court of  Appeals held that the trial court had  not abused its discretion in

excluding this evidence because it was irrelevant.  Id. at 27.  “W e are unable to d iscern,”  it

exclaimed, “how that evidence tended to prove the decedent’s loss of enjoyment of life or

even the extent of the damages attributed thereto.”  Id.  Indeed, it is pure con jecture, the

Court continued, that the decedent, in the moments before his death , was worried that his

creditors would  not be paid.  Id. at 27-28.  While the evidence that the Smallwood personal

representative sought to  introduce was at best speculative, the evidence of appellant’s prior

claims, for the reasons we have previously outlined, was not.  It bore, as we have indicated,

directly on the issue of damages.

Still, appellant reminds us, citing Rule 5-408, that “settlements ordinarily are not



3 RULE 5-408. COMPROM ISE AND OFFERS T O COMPR OMISE  

(a) The following evidence is  not admissible to p rove  the validi ty, invalidity,

or amount of a civil claim in dispute:

(1) Furnishing or offering or promising  to furnish a  valuable consideration for

the purpose of com promising or attempting to  compromise the  claim or any

other claim;

(2) Accepting or offering to accept such consideration for that purpose; and

(3) Conduct or statements made in compromise negotiations or mediation.

(b) This Rule does not require the exclusion of any evidence otherwise

obtained merely because it is also presented in the course of compromise

negotiations or mediation.

(c) Except as otherwise provided by law, evidence of a type specified in

section (a) of this Rule is not excluded under this Rule when offered for

another purpose, such as proving bias or prejudice of a witness, controverting

a defense of laches  or limitations, establishing the existence of a "M ary Carter"

agreement, or proving an effort to obstruct a criminal investigation or

prosecution, but exclusion is required where the sole purpose for offering the

evidence  is to impeach a party by show ing a prior inconsistent statem ent.

(d) When an act giving rise to criminal liability would also resu lt in civil

liabi lity, evidence that would be inadmissible in a civil action is also

inadmissib le in a crimina l action based on that ac t.

11

admissible  in evidence.”3  The purpose of Rule 5-408 is to encourage the settlement of

lawsuits by ensuring that parties need not fear that their desire to settle pending litigation and

their offers to do so will be construed as admiss ions. Sodergren v. Johns H opkins University

Applied Physics Laboratory, 138 Md. App. 686, 698 (2001).  But tha t rule is plainly not

applicable  to the instant case because the evidence at issue concerned previously settled

claims and not promises to settle an existing claim.
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Fina lly, appellant argues that, because “receipt of collateral source benefits has

routinely been deemed inadmissible due to its questionable relevance and the danger of

unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, and misleading the jury,” evidence that appellant

had made earlier claims against CSX and was compensated for those claims should be

excluded for the same reasons. A ppellant admits, however, that the receipt of collateral

source benefits is a “somewhat different” issue than the admission of prior claims. We

emphatically agree.  

“The collateral source rule permits an injured person to recover the full amount of his

or her provable damages, ‘regardless of the amount of compensation which the person has

received for his injuries from sources unrelated to the tortfeasor.’” Haischer v. CSX Transp.,

Inc., 381 Md. 119, 132 (2004) (citing Motor Vehicle  Admin . v. Seidel, 326 M d. 237, 253

(1992)).  Underlying this rule is the principle that “the wrongdoer should not receive a

windfall  because the plaintiff received a benefit  from an independent source,” for which , in

many instances, he or she has paid.  Id.  That doctrine plainly has no application to the case

at bar.  

The compensation appellant received was not for the instant claim but for past claims,

and it was not from an independent source but from CSX.  In other words, the source of the

funds  was not collate ral nor w ere they received  for the injury now  claimed by appellant.   

II. 
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Appellant next argues that the circuit court erred in refusing five jury instructions

which he requested: jury instruction No. 22, regarding violation of the federal Track Sa fety

Standards and jury instructions Nos. 15 through 18, regarding CSX’s duties under the FELA.

It further erred, he claimed, in failing to give the interrogatory in his proposed verdict form 4

regarding instruction No. 22  and by erroneously including language in its charge regarding

evidence of appellan t’s prior c laims and compensat ion.  

The trial testimony that precipitated appellant’s request for instruction No. 22 was

Raymond Duffany’s.  At trial, he testified for appellant as an expert in several fields,

including railroad industry regulations.   He opined that the No. 9  switch was “not reasonably

safe to operate,”: R ust, sand and mud, he explained, were being pumped up from the tracks

into the switch because the ballast (crushed stone) supporting the track structure was not

properly draining.  He said this condition violated 49 C.F.R. § 213.103(c), which states

“Unless it is otherwise structurally supported, all track shall be supported by material which

will . . . [p]rovide adequate drainage for the track . . . .” 49 C.F.R. § 213.103(c).  Buoyed by

this testimony, appellant proposed jury instruc tion No. 22 , which read: 

The Court instructs the jury that if you believe from the greater

weight of the evidence that [CSX] violated or failed to comply

with any of the requirements  of the [federal] Track Safety

Standards, 49 C.F.R. Part 213, and that the violation or failure

to comply contributed in any way, in whole or in part, even in

the slightest, to cause the injury which [appellant] sustained on

June 23, 2003, then [appellant] is not required to prove that
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[CSX] was negligent or that it failed to exercise ordinary care

with regard to the condition of the switch.  The duties imposed

on [CSX] by the [federal] Track[ ] Safety Standards are absolute,

and [CSX] is not excused by any showing of care, however

diligent .  

In addition, section 3 of the Federal Employer’s  Liability

Act provides that though [ sic] employee who sustains an injury

cannot be held to have been contribu torily negligent in  any case

where the railroad’s violation of a statute or regulation enacted

for the safety of employees contributed to cause an injury to the

employee.  Accordingly,  if you believe from the greater weight

of the evidence that [CSX] violated or failed to comply with any

of the requirem ents of the [ federal] Track[] Safety Standards, 49

C.F.R. Part 213, then [CSX] is not entitled to claim that the

employee was contributorily negligent, and contributory

negligence is not available as a defense . 

Before we consider the merits of appellant’s claim that the court should have given

this instruction, we must first determine whether this issue was preserved for our

consideration.  C SX cla ims that  it was not.  

On June 13, 2006, the seventh  day of this eigh t-day trial, after both  parties had rested,

appellant and CSX presen ted their proposed jury instructions to the court.  Both sides

addressed at length the issue of w hether instruc tion No.  22 should  be given . The  next day,

the court instructed the jury but did not give instruction No. 22.  Appellant objected, stating:

“[W]e object to the re fusal to give [appellant’s] requested instructions on the Federal Track

Safety Standards . . . . We object to the verdict form or issue sheet for the reasons it totally

deletes and omits the Federal Track Safety Standards, or lack of a question for the jury on

that point as we had requested in accordance with the Kerns [sic] vs. American Dredging

case (phonetic), the mock [sic] case, and the other cases mentioned during argument
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yesterday.”  He was clearly referring to the argument he advanced, the day before, in support

of giving proposed instruction  No. 22 . 

Maryland Rule 2-520(e) states in part, “No party may assign as error the giving or the

failure to give an instruction unless the party objects on the record promptly after the court

instructs the jury, stating distinctly the matter to which the party objects and the grounds of

the objection.” R ule 2-520(e).  “This rule  requires ‘parties to be precise in stating objections

to jury instructions at trial, for the plain  reason that the trial court has  no opportunity to

correct or amplify the instructions for the benefit of the jury if the judge is not informed of

the exact nature and grounds of the objection.’” Butler-Tulio v. Scrogg ins, M.D, e t al., 139

Md. App. 122, 151  (2001) (quoting Fearnow v. Chesapeake & Potomac Tel. Co. of

Maryland, 342 Md. 363, 378 (1996)).  If the party that ob jects fails to “‘fu lly comply with

the requirements o f the rule . . . there is nothing for us to consider on appeal.’” Id. (citations

omitted).  But, on the other hand, “no special form is requ ired for the objection and no

ground need even be stated ‘where the record  makes clear that all parties and the court

understood the reason for the objection.’” Sergeant Co. v. Pickett, 283 Md. 284, 288-89

(1978) (citation omitted) (interpreting the precursor to Rule 2-520 , former Rule 554).

Appellant clearly “object[ed] on the record promptly after the court instruct[ed] the

jury”  and referred to the previous day’s argument when “the matter to which [appellant]

object[ed] and the grounds of the objection” were “d istinctly” stated.  See Rule 2-520(e).

The argument as to that instruction was extensive and, given that it was made only the day
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before, there can be no doubt that the next day “all parties and the court understood the

reason  for the [ ensuing] objection.”  See Sergeant, 283 Md. at 288-89.  Hence, appellant’s

objection was preserved for our review.  Having so ruled, we now turn to the merits of

appellant’s claims.

At the outset, we note that “to rule upon the propriety of denying a requested  jury

instruction, a reviewing court must determine whether the requested instruction was a correct

exposition of the law, whether that law was applicable in light of the evidence before the

jury, and finally whether the substance of the requested instruction was fairly covered by the

instruction actually given.” Wegad v. Howard Street Jewelers, Inc., 326 Md. 409, 414 (1992).

Applying that three-part test, we find that the first paragraph of instruction No. 22, which

addresses liabi lity under the FELA  for v iolat ions  of the federal T rack  Safety Standards,

correctly states the law, but that the second paragraph, which addresses damages under the

FELA for violation of those regulations, does not.  But, before we outline the basis for that

conclusion, a brief exposition addressing the purpose of the FELA and the acts and

regulations tha t fall under its statu tory umbrella would be helpful.  

Codified at 45 U.S.C. §§ 51-60, the FELA allows a railroad company employee, who

is injured on the job, to bring an action against his or he r employer for damages.  Miller, 159

Md. App. a t 129.  The action may be based on common law negligence or violations of

certain fede ral safety statutes, specifically the  Safety App liance A ct, 49 U.S.C. § 20301 et



5 The Boiler Inspection A ct is now  known as the  Locomotive  Inspec tion Ac t, 49

U.S.C. § 20701 et seq., but the latter act incorporated substantive provisions of the former.

Thus, the cases construing the former are still controlling as to the latter.  Because those

cases use the term “Boiler Inspection Act,” we will continue to refer to it as such to avoid

confusion.  Both the Boiler Inspection Act and Safety Appliance Act were recodified by

Congress in 1994 and with other railroad statutes incorporated into the Federal Railroad

Safety Authorization Act of 1994, 49 U.S.C. § 20101 et seq. Once again to avoid confusion

we will refer to the Boiler Inspection Act as “Boile r Inspection  Act,” and  to the Safety

Appliance Act as “Safety Appliance Act”  as well. See 6 ATLA’s Litigating Tort Cases §

71:14 (2007) . 

6 In 1994, the Federal R ailroad Safety Act was  replaced by the Federal R ailroad Safety

Authorization Act of 1994, 49 U.S.C. § 20101 et seq. (FRSAA), which incorporated the

substantive provisions of the FRSA.  We will continue, however, to refer to the Act as the

FRSA to avoid confusion because the cases cited in this opinion refer to the FRSA, not the

FRSA A.  See 6 ATLA’s  Litigating Tort C ases § 71:14 (2007).  
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seq., and the Boiler Inspection Act, 49 U.S.C. § 20701 et seq.5  Those acts are in substance,

if not in form, amendments to the FELA.  Id. at 138 (citing Urie v. Thompson, 337 U.S. 163,

189 (1949)).  If a railroad violates either of these  two acts or the regulations promulgated

thereunder and that violation contributed in any way to the injury of a railroad employee, the

railroad is negligent per se and “the employee is relieved of any further burden of proving

negligence on the part of the railroad.”  Id. 

The  Federal Railroad Safety Act of 1970 (“FRSA”)6  also falls, we believe, under the

umbrella  of the FELA.  It was enacted “to provide comprehensive and un iform safe ty

regulations in all areas of railroad operations.”  Chicago  Transit Au thority v. Flohr, 570 F.2d

1305, 1308 (7th Cir . 1977) .  Regulations were thereafter promulgated pursuant to the FRSA

by the Federa l Railroad A dministration. Miller, 159 Md. App. at 161.  The regulations

pertinent to appellant’s claims are the federal Track Safety Standards, 49 C.F.R. Part 213.
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The first paragraph of instruction No. 22, as we noted earlier, correctly states the law

of liability under the FELA for violations of the federal Track Safety Standards, 49 C.F.R.

Part 213.  It asserts that, if the jury finds that CSX violated o r failed to comply with the

federal Track Safety Standards, 49 C.F.R. Part 213, and that violation “contributed in any

way, in whole or in part, even in the slightest, to cause” appellant’s June 23, 2003 injury, then

appellant “is not required to prove that [CSX] was  negligent o r that it failed to exercise

ordinary care with regard to the condition of the switch” to establish CSX’s liability for

appellant’s injury.  CSX violated, according to appellant, 49 C.F.R. Part 213, specifically 49

C.F.R.§ 213.103(c), which  states: “Unless it is otherwise structurally supported, all track

shall be supported by material which will . . . [p]rovide adequate drainage for the track . . .

.” 49 C.F.R. § 213.103(c).  

The first paragraph in effect asserts that a violation of 49  C.F.R. § 213.103(c) creates

liability under the FELA and that assertion finds support in Kernan v. American Dredging

Co., 355 U.S. 426 (1958).  In Kernan, the United States Supreme Court  held that the

dependants of a seaman killed at sea could recover damages under the Jones Act based on

a violation of a navigation regulation. Kernan, 355 U.S. at 431. Because the Jones Act

“created a federal right of action for the wrongful death of a seaman based on the statutory

action under the Federal Employers’ Liability Act,” id. at 429, the Court engaged in extensive

analysis of the FELA.  It found that because the FELA does not suggest that only violations

of the Safety Appliance and Boiler Inspection Acts create liability under the FELA, “the
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nature of the Acts v iolated is  not a controlling  consideration . . .  .”  Id. at 437-38.  Indeed, the

FELA, the Court concluded, abandoned the common law tort rule that a “violation of a

statutory duty creates liability only when the statute was intended to protect those in the

position of the plaintiff from the type of injury that in fact incurred,” in favor of the principle

that “where the employer's conduct falls short of the high standard required o f him by this

Act, and his fau lt, in whole or in part, causes injury, liability ensues.”  Id. at 438-39 .  “[T]his

result follows,” the Court explained, “whether the fault is a violation of a statutory duty or

the more general duty of acting with care, for the employer owes the employee, as much as

the duty of acting with care, the duty of complying with his statutory obligations.”  Id.  at

439.

If any doubt remains as to the extent of the reach of this statutorily-wrought principle,

the dissent authored by Justice Harlan instantly dispels it.  In that dissent, Justice Harlan

wrote that the majority had established “a doctrine under the FELA that injuries following

any violation of any statute, not simply the Safety Appliance and Boiler Inspection Ac ts, are

actionable  without any showing of negligence . . . . ”  Id. at 445.  The majority, we note, took

no issue with th is characterization of its holding. 

Recently,  this reading of Kernan was confirmed by the Seventh Circuit in Schmitz v.

Canadian Pacific Railway Company, 454 F.3d 678 (7th Cir. 2006).  Declaring that “Kernan

extended the FELA liability principles established in the Safety Appliance Act and Boiler

Inspection Act line of cases” beyond “cases involving violations of those two Acts,” the
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Seventh  Circuit held  that the trial judge erred in failing to give an instruction requested by

an injured railroad employee that the railroad’s  violation of  the federa l Track Safety

Standards, specifically 49 C.F.R. § 213 .37(c), created liability under the FELA, regardless

of whether the regulation was designed to protect against the specific type of harm suffered

by the employee.  Schmitz , 454 F.3d at 683.  T hus, the first paragraph of appellant’s

reques ted jury ins truction  No. 22  was a correct exposition of the  law.  

But, as we previously stated, the second paragraph was not.  It read:

In addition, section 3 of the Federal Employer’s Liability Act

provides that though  [sic] employee who sustains an injury

cannot be held to have been con tributorily negligen t in any case

where the railroad’s violation of a statute or regulation enacted

for the safety of employees contributed to cause an injury to the

employee.  Accordingly, if you believe from the greater weight

of the evidence that [CSX] violated or failed to comply with any

of the requirements of the [federal] Track[] Safety Standards, 49

C.F.R. Part 213, then [CSX] is not entitled to claim that the

employee was contributorily negligent, and contributory

negligence is not available as a defense . 

Section 3 of the FELA, now 45 U.S.C. § 53 and entitled “Contributory negligence;

diminution  of damages,” states: 

In all actions on and after April 22, 1908 brought against any

such common carrier by railroad under or by virtue of any of the

provisions of this chapter to recover damages for personal

injuries to an employee, or where such injuries have  resulted in

his death, the fact that the employee may have been guilty of

contributory negligence shall not bar a recovery, but the

damages shall be diminished by the jury in proport ion to the

amount of negligence attributab le to such em ployee: Provided,
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That no such employee who may be injured or killed shall be

held to have been guilty of contributory negligence in any

case where the violation by such com mon carrier o f any

statute enacted for the safety of employees contributed to the

injury or death of such employee.

45 U.S .C. § 53  (emphasis added). 

Thus, it prohibits a common carrier from raising a defense of contributory negligence,

but only  “where the violation by such common carrier of any statute” that contributed to the

death or injury of an employee “was enacted for the safety of [such] employees . . . . ” 45

U.S.C. § 53.  Since this Court stated in Miller that 49 C.F.R. § 213.103(c) was not enacted

for the safety of employees, no such prohibition prevented CSX from raising that defense as

to damages.  See Miller, 159 Md. App. at 167.  That regulation, as we observed in Miller,

was concerned with “the safety of the train, the prevention of derailments, and not the qua lity

of the work place provided for em ployees.”   Id.  Hence p roposed instruction No. 22 presents

an incorrect exposition of the law.  And, as to damages under the FELA , because appellant

never requested anything other than that the circuit court give the whole instruction , that

court d id not er r in declining to  do so. 

Since we find that the instruction was an not a correct exposition of the law, we need

not reach the o ther two crite ria for giving  a party-requested instruction: “whether that law

was applicable in light of the evidence before the jury, and . . . whether the substance of the

requested instruction was fairly covered by the instruction actually given.” Wegad,326 Md.

at 414. 
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Appellant also claims that the circuit court erred in failing to give proposed jury

instructions Nos. 15 through 18, which read as follows:

[No. 15:] The duty of a railroad to provide its employees with a

reasonably safe place to work includes the responsibility to

furnish its employees with safe and suitable instrumentalities,

equipment and appliances, including railroad switches.  If the

railroad fails to  perform this duty, then it is neg ligent.

[No. 16:] The duty of a railroad to provide its employees with a

reasonably safe place  to work includes the responsibility to

inspect and maintain its equipment, including switches, and to

take adequate and reasonable precautions to  protect its

employees from reasonably foreseeable danger.  If the railroad

fails to perfo rm this duty, then  it is negligent.

[No. 17:] Under the Federal Employer’s Liability Act, if an

employer undertakes to determine whether an employee is

physically fit for a job, the employer is liable if it performs such

determination in a negligent fashion and injury results.

Accordingly, if you find that the Medical Department of CSX

Transportation, Inc. was negligent in determining [appellant’s]

fitness for service as a conductor or in returning him to work in

that position without any restrictions, then you may find your

verdict in favor of [appellant] . 

[No 18:] The duty of a railroad to provide its employees with a

reasonably safe place to work includes the duty not to assign an

employee to work or to a position for which the railroad knows

or reasonably ought to know the employee is no t physically

suited.  If the railroad fails to perform this duty, then  it is

negligent.

On June 13, 2006, the day before both sides rested and the court instructed the jury,

CSX objected to the proposed instructions, stating that they were “unnecessarily specific”

because they were “an itemization” of appellant’s theories of negligence.
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While the court did not give the instructions, it did give a negligence instruction,

stating:

Every common carr ier by railroad . . . shall be liable in damages

to any person su ffering injury while he is employed by such

carrier . . . and for such injury resulting in whole o r in part from

the negligence of any of the officers, agents, or employees of

such carrier, or by reason o f any defect o r insufficiency due to

its negligence in its cars, engines, appliances, machinery, track,

roadbed, works, or other equipment. 

. . . .

A railroad is liable in  damages, money, to its employee for any

injury that is caused in whole or in part by any negligence on its

part.  For purposes of this case, injury or damage is said to be

caused or contributed to by an act or failure to act when it

appears . . . that the act or omission played any part, no matter

how small, in bringing about or actually causing the injury or

damage.

. . . . 

Under the FELA, a railroad employer must prov ide its

employees with a reasonably safe place to work, . . . and to

provide reasonably safe equipment. In such a case, [appellant]

must prove . . . that [C SX] breached [its] duty to provide a

reasonably safe  work place. 

. . . . 

In addition  to that ins truction, the court  prov ided the ju ry with a verdict sheet

containing a question regarding whether CSX was negligent in returning or assigning

appellant to work as a brakeman/conductor in 2002.

After the court finished instructing the jury, appellant objected, saying “[W]e object
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to the refusal to give [appellant’s]  requested instructions . . . concerning [CSX’s] duties

under the F.E.L.A. and also concerning [appellant’s] theories of negligence.” However, CSX

claims, as it did with respect to appellan t’s proposed instruction N o. 22, that appellant did

not thereby “state distinctly” the matter to which he objected and thus did not preserve for

our review his contention that the court erred in omitting these instructions.  But the day

before, appellant did discuss these proposed instructions with both the court and opposing

counsel.  In fact, at that time, counsel for CSX objected to appellant’s “theories of

negligence,” claiming that they were unnecessarily specific.  Thus, when in objecting to the

court’s instructions, appellant explained that he  was protesting the court’s decision not to

give his “theories of negligence” instructions, the record is clear that “all parties and the court

understood the reason for the objection,” and so “no special form [was] required for the

objection and no ground need[ed] even be stated.” Sergeant Co., 283 Md. at 288-89.  Hence,

this issue was also preserved for our review.

As we stated earlier, in reviewing the denial of a requested instruction, we must

determine whether that instruction “was a correct exposition of the law, whether that law was

applicable in light of the evidence  befo re the jury, and finally whether the substance of the

requested instruction was fairly covered by the instruction actually given.” Wegad, 326 Md.

at 414.  But here we do not need to reach the first two prongs because the substance of the

requested instructions were “fairly covered  by the instruc tion[s] actually given.”  See id.

Appellant’s requested instructions 15 and 16 dealt with C SX’s du ty to provide appellant with
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a reasonably safe place to work.  In its negligence instruction, the court did so instruct the

jury, as we noted  earlier.  

Moreover, appellant’s requested instructions 17 and 18 addressed CSX’s purported

negligence in returning appellant to a type of work for which he was allegedly not suited.

The verdict shee t dealt with this  specific issue and the court, in its instructions, gave

negligence ins tructions broad  enough to cover this issue.  

It is well settled that “‘so long  as the law is  fairly covered  by the jury instructions,

reviewing courts should not disturb them.’” Zografos, 165 Md. App. at 109 (quoting Farley

v. Allstate Ins. Co., 355 Md. 34, 46 (1999)).  The law on negligence under the FELA was

fairly covered by the court’s jury instructions and so w e will no t disturb  them.  

Fina lly, appellant argues that, “in conjunction w ith its ruling concerning evidence of

settlement of prior claims and compensation rece ived for those claims,” the court erred  in

“includ[ing] language in its charge pertaining to prior claims and prior compensation.” For

the reasons we discussed in Issue I, the court did not err by including such language in its

charge.

III.   

Appellant maintains that CSX engaged in “improper argument and misstated the law

applicable to the case, which the trial court failed to correct.” That argument is based on

CSX’s counsel’s interpretation, during closing argument, of instructions that the court had

earlier given the jury.  The court had instructed the jury, in pertinen t part, “You  are not to
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award any damages for those injuries that arise out of claims that have been resolved and for

which [appellant] has previously been compensated.  The affect that an injury might have

upon a particular person depends upon the susceptibility to in jury of tha t person .” “In other

words, the fact than an injury would have been less serious if inflicted upon another person

should not,” the court explained, “affect the amount of damages to which a Plaintiff may be

entitled.”

Referring to that instruction, counsel for CSX, during closing argument, reminded the

jury that appellant had brought three previous claims against CSX and was compensated for

those claims. Elaborating, he stated:

[CSX’s Counsel]: . . .  The court has instructed you, ladies and

gentlemen, that you are not to award any damages for those

injuries that arise out of claims that have been resolved and for

which [appellant] has been previously compensated.  So, if you

feel that his problem in  this case stems in whole  or in part from

those prior, any one of those prior in juries and most particularly

the most recent one, the November 1999 one, which actually

caused the herniation at that time, then pursuant to this Court’s

instruction, you are not to award any damages if you feel that

anything at issue in this case arises out of those prior act

injuries.

That prom pted the fo llowing exchange between counsel:

[Appellant’s Counsel]: Your Honor, we must object.  That is an

improper statement of the F.E.L .A. and I want my, I want my

objection noted on the record.  That’s, that’s an improper

statement of the law.
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[CSX’s Counsel]: Your Honor, I read the instruction verbatim.

[Appellant’s Counsel]: That’s not what he argued , and that’s not

the law, what he just told  the ju ry.

The court ended the  dispute by stating : 

[The Court] : Thank you, lad ies and gentlem en of the jury.  I

gave you lengthy instruc tions, I know they were long in number.

There were several instructions that would have application to

this issue and this argument, so you can consider the argument

that is being made, but please consider all parts of the

instructions that were given.  Proceed, counsel.  Your objection

is noted .”

Quoting Hairston v. State, 68 Md. App. 230  (1986) tha t “[w]here  an objection to

opening or closing argument is sustained . . . there is nothing for this Court to review unless

a request for specific relief, such as a motion for a mistrial, to strike, or for further cautionary

instruction is made,” CSX argues that appellant’s argument has not been preserved for appeal

because appellant did not make such a request .  Hairston, 68 Md. App. at 236.  But, we

observe that, if appellant’s objection to the closing argument was overruled, then the issue

was preserved even  though  appellant did not make any fur ther requests.  Id. 

The court noted appellant’s objection but then, while giving what appeared to be a

curative instruction by telling the jury to “consider all parts of the instructions that were

given,”  the court informed the jury it could “consider the argument that is being  made,”

meaning  CSX’s  counsel’s c losing argument.
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Thus it is not altogethe r clear wha t the court did  here, that is, ove rrule or sustain

appellant’s objection. But no matter what it did, it is of no consequence.  CSX’s counsel’s

statement was “you a re not to award any damages if you feel that anything at issue in this

case arises out of those prior act injuries.” Because the jury never reached the issue of

damages, the  court’s purported tolerance of that statement, if error, was  harmless. 

JUDGMENT AFFIRMED.  COSTS TO

BE PAID BY A PPELLANT.  


